TRANSITIONS OUT OF CARE FOR LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN WITH MULTIPLE AND COMPLEX NEEDS: A LITERATURE REVIEW



ABOUT

This literature review aims to provide context for the pilot evaluation of a supported housing pathway for care leavers with multiple and complex needs.

Authors

This review was conducted by researchers at the School of Sport, Exercise and Rehabilitation Sciences at the University of Birmingham (UoB).

Richard J. Whiting

Research Associate in the School of Sport, Exercise and Rehabilitation Sciences at UoB and Psychology and Psychological Practice graduate.

Richard's work involves delivering and evaluating the My Strengths Training for Life™, Parenting Young People™ and PIE Schools programmes in collaboration with St Basils.

Dr Mary L. Quinton

Research Fellow in the School of Sport, Exercise and Rehabilitation Sciences at UoB and programme manager for the My Strengths Training for Life™ programme.

Siân Thomas

Registered social worker and Teaching Fellow in the Department of Social Work and Social Care in the School of Social Policy at UoB.

Dr Jennifer Cumming

Reader in Sport and Exercise Psychology in the School of Sport, Exercise and Rehabilitation Sciences at UoB.

Chartered Psychologist and Associate Fellow of the British Psychological Society.

Dr Cumming has over 10 years of expertise in the development, implementation, and evaluation of community-based interventions for a range of stakeholders.

She currently leads on the My Strengths
Training for Life™ programme for
developing resilience, self-worth, and
mental well-being in homeless young
people with complex needs. She also coleads on the Parenting Young People™
programme and is responsible for
evaluating St Basils' PIE¹. She also has over
95 academic publications and her work has
been recognised as good practice by Public
Health England.

Contact information

Dr Jennifer Cumming
J.Cumming@bham.ac.uk
School of Sport, Exercise and Rehabilitation
Sciences
University of Birmingham

Email: J.Cumming@bham.ac.uk
Twitter: @drjenncumming

Email: R.J.Whiting@bham.ac.uk Twitter: @RichardJWhiting

Reference this document

Whiting, R. J., Quinton, M. L., & Cumming, J. (2019). Transitions out of care for looked after childrens with multiple and complex needs: A literature review. *University of Birmingham*, UK.

Reference to the evaluation report

Whiting, R. J., Cooley, S. J., Thomas, S., Quinton, M. L., & Cumming, J. (2019). *Transforming pathways out of care for 16/17 year olds: An evaluation report for the LGA Children's Efficiency Project.* University of Birmingham.

Funding Notes

This literature review was commissioned and funded by Birmingham City Council as part of the LGA Children's Efficiency Project.

CONTENTS

Executive summary3
Transitions out of care for multiple and complex need care leavers4
Outcomes for care leavers4
Care leavers with complex needs7
Enablers and barriers in the transition from care9
Enablers9
Barriers11
Policy context15
Summary16
Transitional housing programmes17
Services as enablers17
Housing interventions from outside the UK18
Interventions in the UK20
Summary22
Recommendations for services and practice
23
Understanding trauma and challenging behaviour23
Staff training and support23
Co-working and collaboration24
Planning and empowerment24
Evaluation recommendations24
Conclusion26
References26
Appendix A: Transitional Housing Placement Checklist

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Care leavers are at risk for a greater number of adverse outcomes compared to their peers, particularly those with multiple and complex needs. This literature review summarises the enablers and barriers to young people achieving a successful transition from care and concludes with recommendations for policy makers and commissioners.

Enablers to care leavers achieving successful transitions out of care include resilience, good social support, education employment, and support from services.

Barriers to successful transitions include poor mental health, abrupt and accelerated transitions with inadequate planning, homelessness, disability, and cultural differences.

Policy-makers and practitioners should aim to increase the impact of enablers and decrease the impact of barriers. Existing examples of attempts to do this may be used to help design evidence-informed policy and practice, combining research evidence, lived experience, and knowledge from practice.

Interventions are aimed at young people, staff and/or services, targeting key outcomes such as employment and wellbeing. Overall, these interventions have been successful in boosting these outcomes, although more evaluations are needed.

The review concludes with recommendations drawn from the literature, including the importance of staff training and support, empowerment of young people, and multi-agency co-working.

TRANSITIONS OUT OF CARE FOR MULTIPLE AND COMPLEX NEED CARE LEAVERS

Care leavers are young people between ages 16-18-year olds or, in some cases, young adults up to 24 years old, transitioning out of foster or residential care or other supported living arrangements. They are one of the most disadvantaged groups in our society with consistently poorer outcomes, for example in health, well-being, employment, and education.

Within this group, care leavers with multiple and complex needs are those most likely to struggle and are at even greater risk of poor outcomes. Such needs could include mental health issues, physical or learning disabilities, contact with the criminal justice system, and risk of homelessness.

Although representing a minority of care leavers, those with complex needs may present the biggest challenge to services who must work together, at significant financial cost, to successfully support them in achieving healthy and fulfilling lives.

Until recently, policy and research has focused on care leavers in general, overlooking care leavers with complex needs; for example, those 35% of care leavers who had 5 or more placements whilst in care is one indication of having multiple support needs². There is growing recognition for the need to provide additional support for these young people.

Therefore, this literature review includes a review of these multiple needs (which are often influenced by each other), the limited information and evidence concerning the complex need care leavers subgroup

specifically, as well as protective factors that form part of each care leaver's unique biography.

It is hoped that the review will therefore help inform effective policy, services, and programmes interested in improving the outcomes for care leavers with complex needs. The review will provide an overview of outcomes, barriers, and enablers to their successful transition out of care, and recent examples from policy and practice that aim to support complex need care leavers.

Outcomes for care leavers

Care leavers experience poorer outcomes compared to their peers in a multitude of areas. An earlier review³ of the research highlighted a greater likelihood of:

- Poor educational qualifications
- Lower levels of participation in post-16 education
- Homelessness
- Young parenthood
- Unemployment
- Physical and mental health problems
- Offending

Data from a Swedish study⁴ found that care leavers have 6 to 11 times higher risk of:

- Suicide attempts
- Substance abuse
- Serious criminality from age 20
- Public welfare dependency at age 25

Furthermore, 22% of female care leavers became teenage parents⁵.

These factors are interrelated, such that instability in one area can have an impact on another⁶. For example, lower educational attainment restricts opportunities for employment, training, or further education whereas mental health problems could interfere with the ability to parent a child

and contribute to employment or housing instability.

Employment and education

Department for Education statistics from 2014 on educational attainment for children in care⁷ showed that:

Only 14.4% received 5 or more GCSEs
 A*-C, or equivalent, including English
 and Mathematics, compared to 55.4% of
 children not in care

These secondary school-age children in care are likely preparing for their transition out of care, and the findings foreshadow post-secondary education outcomes:

- 40% of care leavers aged 19-21 years were not in education, training, or employment⁸.
- 6% of care leavers were in higher education⁹, compared to almost 50% of the general population¹⁰.

Findings from a comprehensive US study of adults who have left care found that half were unemployed, and, for those working, average earnings were below the poverty line¹¹.

In sum, children in care and care leavers have substantially lower educational attainment and employment rates.

Mental health, physical health, substance use and disability

Young people aging out of care are at increased risk of mental and physical health problems¹², but issues around health, wellbeing, and lifestyle choices may become overshadowed by accommodation, education, work, and training needs.

National surveys in the UK¹³ show a range of health needs in looked after children, including:

- Poor diet
- High levels of smoking and substance abuse
- Chronic physical conditions or health problems including sight impairment, speech and language problems, disabilities, difficulties in coordination, and asthma
- Low levels of physical activity
- Early parenthood
- Learning disabilities, emotional and behavioural difficulties
- Mental health problems including selfharm, depression, and low self-esteem

Without appropriate support, these difficulties can last into adulthood and contribute to higher incidences of poverty, unemployment, social isolation, and poor housing.

A UK study¹⁴ followed 106 young people, mostly aged 16-18, in the first 12-15 months following their transition from care to independent living. In general, their health deteriorated over the follow-up period:

- 61% reported physical or mental health problems at follow-up compared to 38% at baseline
- Reports of health problems such as asthma, weight loss, allergies, flu and illness related to substance abuse also increased, from 28% to 45%
- Reports of mental health problems doubled from 12% to 24%
- 4% made suicide attempts (although this is comparable to a sample of over 1200 18-23 year olds of whom 3.1% reported a suicide attempt in the past year¹⁵)

Substance use may also have an impact on mental and physical health. In a Home Office survey¹⁶ of 200 young people who were preparing to leave or had left care,

findings showed higher rates of drug use compared to the general population:

- Cannabis use was most common, with 74% having smoked it, 52% smoked it in the last month, and 34% reporting they smoke it daily. For young adults in general aged 16-24, only 16.7% report having used cannabis in the last year¹⁷
- Alcohol use was lower, with 34% drinking at least once a week, 20% once a month, and 23% less than once a month, compared to 47.9% of 16-24 year olds in the general population who said they drank alcohol in the past week¹⁸
- 10% reported having used cocaine and 15% having used ecstasy, within the last month. These rates can be compared to a rate of 8.4% for 16-24 year olds in a general household survey reporting use of any class A drug in the last year¹⁷

Substance use may in turn affect physical and mental health and may involve association with criminal activity, amongst other problems¹⁹.

Disability is defined as a physical or mental impairment that has a substantial and long-term negative effect on a person's ability to perform normal daily activities²⁰.

Children in care are more likely to have a disability compared to the general population; estimates for the proportion of children in care who have a disability include 16.4% and 25%²¹. Regardless of whether this is an influencing factor for being taken into care or a consequence of it, care leavers with disabilities are more likely to experience poorer physical and mental health²².

In summary, care leavers as a population face significant health inequalities compared to other young people, and that the transition from care is a time of

vulnerability in terms of physical and mental health.

Offending

In 2013, 6.2% looked after children, compared to 1.5% of all children and young people, had been convicted or subject to a final reprimand or warning²³. For older children who are preparing to leave care, there is an even greater risk of offending, with these figures reaching 11.1% for 16-17 year olds.

This increased risk continues into adulthood: 24% of adult offenders have been in care²⁴. These disproportionate figures are a strong indication of the disadvantage experienced by care leavers and suggests an increased likelihood of disconnect from their community.

Type of placement whilst in care also plays a role in outcomes. Those in foster care had an offending rate of 3.6% versus 21.4% of those in residential care²⁵.

Aside from other factors that may predispose a care leaver to offending, which are explored more in a later section on barriers to effective transitions from care, Fitzpatrick and Williams²⁶ summarised some of the reasons that may explain the overrepresentation of care leavers in the criminal justice system:

- A belief by many practitioners that the youth justice system is a necessary partner of the care system
- Greater surveillance of behaviour by services compared to the average young person
- Lack of tolerance for challenging behaviour in some care homes

These lead, for example, to a greater police presence in care homes and charges for minor criminal offences. In the average family home, a police presence would be

unacceptable and minor criminal acts would normally go unnoticed. Care leavers who are involved in the criminal justice system in this way may then be perceived as disproportionately risky, reinforced by additional risk assessment measures.

Fitzpatrick and Williams commented that the "stubborn over-representation" of care leavers in the criminal justice system "marks a systemic failing in the provision of supportive services to those with care experiences". The offending outcomes for care leavers are therefore another example of social injustice experienced by care leavers, influenced by both individual and systemic factors.

Housing and homelessness

Simon²⁷ reported that 30% of care leavers had been homeless at some point between 18-24 months after leaving care. A similar percentage was reported by Crisis: 25% of their sample of homeless youth had been in local authority care²⁸.

Unstable living arrangements can exacerbate or cause new physical or mental health problems, interfere with one's ability to engage in or sustain education, employment or training, and can lead to outright homelessness.

Care leavers often lack life, or living, skills which relate to their ability to maintain a tenancy²⁹. For this reason, many programmes aimed at care leavers focus on living skills (see later section on interventions).

Living in safe, stable accommodation is a basic need, and is highly associated with mental well-being, over and above education, employment or training (EET) status³⁰.

Therefore, being at risk of homelessness, or actually becoming homeless, is likely to

exacerbate the poor outcomes discussed previously.

Care leavers with complex needs

Government guidelines³¹ suggest that in tackling homelessness, those with priority needs include children aging out of care. However, there are subgroups even within the care leaver population with different needs and outcomes.

Stein³² proposed that care leavers could be broadly categorised into three different groups: "moving on", "survivors", and "strugglers". The first two groups, whilst experiencing differing levels of support needs and consistency of care, are able to engage with services and achieve post-care stability.

Indeed, improvements in care services, preand post-transition, a care leaver's resilience, and a multitude of other factors mean that many young people leaving care do experience good outcomes. Success for these young people could mean establishing a stable tenancy, maintaining employment, leading an active lifestyle, enrolling in education or training courses, developing a supportive network and experiencing good mental health.

However, complex need care leavers are more likely to fall into the category of "strugglers": young people who are less responsive to and engaged in with services and thus at even greater risk of adverse outcomes. As a result, care leavers with complex needs are most at risk for the poor outcomes outlined above³³. Yet most research pertains to care leavers in general; only a limited amount, such as Stein's, deals with this subgroup.

Nevertheless, it is recognised that young people within this group have a range of multiple and co-occurring needs, such that one-size-fits-all approaches to supporting their transition out of care are unlikely to be effective³³.

The multiple and co-occurring needs that make this group especially vulnerable include involvement with the criminal justice system, and physical or mental disability. These additional needs present further barriers.

The following section explores the challenges of transition for care leavers by looking at specific needs in terms of barriers and enablers to successful transition.

A better understanding of the barriers and enablers to successful transition out of care is also likely to contribute to greater sensitivity to these individual needs, leading to better support and therefore better outcomes.

ENABLERS AND BARRIERS IN THE TRANSITION FROM CARE

Enablers and barriers are factors which either support or hinder a young person as they transition out of care and can be contextual or individual factors. Ideally, barriers should be minimised, and enablers maximised to fully support care leavers.

Enablers

Resilience

The ability to thrive and 'bounce back' despite adversity, which is often faced by children in and leaving care, is known as resilience³⁴. This concept may help policy makers, researchers, commissioners, services, and young people themselves recognise the strengths exhibited by young people leaving care.

One study by Jones³⁵ identified potential factors that may promote resilience in care leavers including:

- Having social support and independent living skills
- Being older at age of leaving care
- Continued contact with former foster parents

In contrast, returning to live with their biological family after leaving care and having behavioural problems are two factors that may diminish resilience. For example, care leavers may be returning to unstable family environments, or responding to difficult situations in an unhelpful way, respectively.

However, the research on resilience is that it assumes young people engage with the services provided. Malvaso and Delfabbro³³ therefore noted that work with complex

care leavers cannot always be understood in terms of a resilience model because complex need care leavers are less likely have the ability or willingness to engage with services.

Social support

Resilience is strengthened by social support, which may consist of emotional (e.g. approaching someone in their support network to be listened to and understood), practical (e.g. borrowing money) or informational (e.g. to receive advice on services) support, as well as constructive feedback (e.g. about how to act more appropriately)³⁶.

There are several sources of support care leavers might draw upon, including:

- Professionals (support staff and aftercare workers)
- Foster carers
- Mentors
- Peers
- Their family of origin³⁶

Indeed, many young people, including some care leavers, return to their family home at several points during their transition to independence³⁷, although experiences with partners and reconnecting with birth family can either provide support, or present additional problems³⁸.

Social support provides benefits to physical, mental, and material well-being, and is comprised of both the number and quality of connections in an individual's network, although some social connections can have a negative effect on well-being³⁹.

Transitions out of care are more likely to be successful for those who:

- Have at least one stable relationship
- Have made sense of their family relationships

- Make the most of available support⁴⁰
- Feel they have a key person to go to for help³⁸

When support from professionals is sought, there are several key qualities valued by care leavers in these relationships:

- Consistency and longevity
- Reliability delivering on promises
- Working with the young person as an individual, and showing genuine interest and empathy
- Demonstrating a desire to help the young person meet their individual needs
- Holding positive but realistic expectations
- Demonstrating an interest above and beyond the individual's job role
- Access to support out-of-hours³²

Nevertheless, Perry⁴¹ reported that care leavers require multiple support networks to benefit from the protective effect of social support. Therefore, as a vulnerable group, it is especially important for care leavers to develop this strong social support network to facilitate positive transitions. However, care leavers may find it difficult to seek and accept support due to past experiences of loss, broken trust, or poor support⁴².

Experiencing multiple placements whilst in care is likely to disrupt the development of relationships in these networks, and the transition out of care itself is another potential cause of disruption.

This instability means many care leavers lack relationships with supportive adults who could otherwise help with the search for housing, navigate professional relationships such as with landlords, and a multitude of other challenges faced in adult life.

One literature review of care leavers' experiences showed that many care leavers report feeling lonely and isolated, which has potential repercussions for mental wellbeing³⁸. Holt-Lunstad, Smith and Layton⁴³ found that the effects of poor social relationships on health are comparable to or exceed the effects of smoking, alcohol use, physical inactivity and obesity.

Developing support networks may be inhibited by the drive for self-sufficiency experienced and expressed by many care leavers, which is often reinforced by independent living programmes⁴⁴. Whilst this striving can contribute towards independence and resilience, it could also be detrimental to the development of social support networks and desire to seek emotional support⁴⁵.

There is also inconsistency in when care leavers transfer to transition-focused teams. For some this transfer may take place at age 14, for others 16 or 18. Therefore, as well as dealing with the pressures of moving to independence, they must also form a relationship with a new worker.

Furthermore, service and caseload pressures mean that many professionals do not have the time to build these quality relationships. For example, the Centre for Social Justice⁵ reported that the average case load for personal advisors, who are allocated to support care leavers, is 23 young people.

The importance of social support is indicated by the amount of research in the area, as well as the findings themselves. Varied social support networks are incredibly important in helping looked after children make successful transitions out of care. However, the influence of these networks also depends on the stability of support, which kinds of people or services

make up these networks (including their capacity to support and the qualities they possess), how the care leaver perceives support seeking, and their willingness to engage with that support.

Employment and Education

Arnau-Sabatés and Gilligan⁴⁶ conducted interviews with young adults in Ireland and Catalonia, aged 23-33 years, who had experienced employment success since leaving care, to explore factors that helped and hindered their journey into and through employment. They found that:

- Hard and soft skills gained from early work experiences, from the age of 16 or even younger, paid dividends by helping them to establish themselves in the world of work, and had indirect benefits to resilience, social connections, and educational experiences
- Support from carers and other adults helped them find and maintain work
- Positive work experiences and the use of initiative by the young adults helped them overcome the 'child in care' identity and danger of system dependence

These preliminary findings suggest that work experience may be a key ingredient in successful transitions by supporting competence and interest in the areas of education, employment or training.

On the other hand, poor educational achievement is associated with later problems for care leavers and is another example of the need for services to work jointly together to support children in care to stay in education⁴.

Appropriately early and positive experiences of work, and support and encouragement from significant adults therefore act as enablers to care leavers later being successful in finding

employment, which is one key outcome in transition success and independent living.

Barriers

Policy and service provision issues

According to a 2016 governmental strategy report⁴⁷, current support for care leavers transitioning out of care services is often inadequate for several reasons, including poor pathway planning, lack of accommodation options, and lack of support in finding or maintaining education, employment, and training opportunities. Policy and practice are therefore under constant scrutiny and revision.

Other service issues that affect the progress of care leavers include problems with eligibility. For example, individuals with multiple needs may not receive appropriate support if their issues are not perceived as severe enough to meet diagnostic criteria or if they are the 'wrong' age.

Furthermore, the very fact that complex care leavers' have multiple needs means that any one service may not be equipped to support all of them³³. If multiple services were to be involved, it is likely they would need an effective system of communication to ensure the right support was available at the right time and provided in a complementary way.

These are just some of the challenges that services must respond to in order to deliver the most effective services to care leavers.

Adverse life experiences

Some of the behavioural, physical health, emotional, and relational difficulties observed in care leavers with complex needs may be attributed to adverse childhood experiences (ACEs). These experiences include, but are not limited to:

- Physical, emotional or sexual abuse
- Emotional or physical neglect
- Exposure to domestic violence
- Household substance abuse
- Household mental illness
- Household member in prison
- Parental separation⁴⁸

Research has found that 62% of children in care are there because of abuse or neglect². In one sample of 2,251 of youth in foster care, 70.4% reported at least two trauma experiences, and 11.7% reported all five of those presented in the study⁴⁹.

Multiple and/or recurrent experiences of such events may be referred to as *complex trauma* and have been linked to a range of negative outcomes in adulthood, including those faced by many care leavers.

Behaviours detrimental to health, such as smoking, substance use, and overeating, can constitute compensatory behaviours which provide relief from the emotional impact of traumatic experiences⁵⁰.

As a result, in terms of health, higher ACE scores (the number of experiences reported) are associated with increased likelihood of diabetes, heart disease, stroke, depression, and disability⁵¹.

Similarly, a study into the association between ACEs and criminality found that each additional adverse experience increased the risk of becoming a serious, violent and chronic young offender by 35%⁵².

Therefore, adverse experiences may help to explain some of the intra-and inter-personal difficulties of care leavers with high and complex needs. Indeed, such understanding has driven the development of psychologically informed environment (PIE) approaches in homelessness services which aim to recognise and respond to the

increased prevalence of trauma in disadvantaged populations⁵³. PIE will be explained further in a later section on transitional interventions.

Accelerated transition to adulthood

Care leavers, on average, move into independent living at 17-18 years of age, in contrast to the wider population who tend to leave home in their mid-twenties⁵⁴.

Many care leavers often do not have the safety net of a family home that most young people do. Therefore, they also do not have an extended period in which to gradually develop into independence. Their transition to adulthood is, according to Stein, "accelerated and compressed" 40.

Stein also identified an abrupt end of care as a risk factor for becoming a "struggling" care leaver. This risk could be related to housing instability, as well as rapid changes in status, identity, and new responsibilities for which some care leavers may feel ill prepared⁵⁵.

Teenage pregnancy may be considered an example of a young person taking on responsibilities for which they may not be ready. Female care leavers are more likely to become teenage parents, with one study, for example, finding that 25% of care leavers had a child by age 16⁵⁶. The Centre of Social Justice (CSJ)⁵ supported this figure, reporting on Freedom of Information requests that revealed 22% of female care leavers become teenage parents. They also reported that 10% of care leavers who were parents had a child taken into care in the past year, contributing to a vicious cycle.

Young motherhood is associated with some of the negative outcomes discussed in the previous section, including poorer mental and physical health, reduced employment opportunities, and welfare dependence⁵⁷.

A synthesis of qualitative studies described several themes associated with the experience of being a looked after child as well as a young mother⁵⁸. For example, the child was often seen as filling an emotional void, girls often lacked general and sexual education, and there was a sense of fear and mistrust of child protection services. Again, multiple challenges, including financial hardship, housing instability, lack of social support, and poor mental health, were identified as exacerbating these challenges.

On the other hand, some looked after young mothers found positives in their circumstances. Some experienced adequate emotional and financial support or found that having a child a stabilising event that motivated them to improve their lives.

Compared to other young people, care leavers with complex needs strive for independence at a younger age and quicker rate whilst navigating a complex care system, which, without the proper support, may prove overwhelming for some.

Care leaver sub-groups

Some care leavers from black, Asian, or other minority ethnic (BAME) groups may face additional challenges due to racism and discrimination. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation⁵⁹ published a study based on a survey of 261 16-21-year olds leaving care across six local authorities, alongside 36 interviews with young people and professionals. The main findings were:

- Some young people from ethnic minorities talked about their experience of racism, including difficulties finding a job
- However, the needs of care leavers and experiences of leaving care were similar across ethnic groups
- White young people were worse off in terms of placement instability, early

- departure from care, poor educational outcomes, homelessness and risk-taking behaviour
- For Caribbean or mixed-parentage young people, having placements in families that matched their own ethnic background had protective effects
- Regardless of ethnicity, many young people felt "swept along" as they were expected to adapt quickly to independence

Another potentially disadvantaged group are care leavers who identify as LGBT. Carr and Pinkerton⁶⁰ point out that such young people may face the particular challenge of 'coming out' to their substitute care givers and cite a study which highlighted the accompanying need to appropriately match young people and foster parents. Carr and Pinkerton also argue that the concerns of LGBT care leavers link to other barriers, as they experience more placements on average as well as more economic hardship.

A third group concerns unaccompanied asylum-seeking children (UASC), who experience an unparalleled disconnect from family and community. For them, the accelerated transition to adulthood experienced by children in care can be complicated by the likelihood of "waithood", which involves limited employment and educational opportunities⁶¹.

Each of these groups will have had a range of experiences that will impact on the likelihood of transition success. Trying to recognise and understand these experiences may be one step to preventing their exclusion.

Mental health and disability

In a study by McCann⁶², 96% of adolescents in residential units and 57% in foster care had been diagnosed with a psychiatric disorder, which included:

- Conduct disorder (28%)
- Overanxious disorder (26%)
- Major depressive disorder (23%)
- Psychosis (8%)

A study by McMillen et al.⁶³ supported some of these findings; 61% of 373 17-year-olds in foster care had been diagnosed with at least one psychiatric disorder, with 37% meeting diagnostic criteria within the last year.

Whilst this disproportionately large prevalence of mental health conditions in the care leaver population may have been influenced by their life experiences, they can also constitute a continuing barrier for them. Serious mental health conditions can, for example, severely hamper an individual's ability to lead a healthy lifestyle⁶⁴ and maintain employment⁶⁵.

The specific mental health or behavioural difficulties that may be experienced by a care leaver, and the way it uniquely affects their life, will influence which areas of life they find most challenging. These individual differences are another indication of the need for personalised services.

According to a study by Stoep et al.⁶⁶ adolescents diagnosed with a mental health condition and transitioning to adulthood were:

- 13.7 times less likely to complete secondary school
- 3 times more likely to engage in criminal activity
- 6.5 times more likely to have, or caused someone to, become pregnant

Although the link with mental health problems is not entirely clear these additional barriers are likely to have a significant impact on a care leaver's ability to achieve basic educational qualifications, engage in prosocial endeavours and,

ultimately, to make a successful transition to independent living. Alongside the direct impact on their wellbeing, mental health problems can therefore pose a significant barrier to looked after children leaving care.

Finally, care leavers with disabilities have additional needs yet may face negative attitudes and unequal access to services which could compound the challenges⁶⁷. Bullying, for example, could have a profound impact on a young person's mental health.

Poor mental health and having a disability can therefore act as a barrier to successful transitions. However, as explained in the above section on resilience, some people remain resilient to such experiences of mental ill health, disability and associated experiences to achieve successful outcomes.

Housing, homelessness and the Criminal Justice System

Simon²⁷ reported on care leavers' experience of accessing housing. Whilst leaving care brought a feeling of greater freedom for many young people, participants shared a variety of sentiments:

- Living alone, with the associated responsibility of doing everything independently, was very difficult
- There was great variation in the involvement of young people in decisions about their housing
- Some young people found housing services to be impersonal, felt they were not listened to, and lacked personal spaces

Youth leaving care are also at higher risk of becoming homeless, and increasing this likelihood are factors such as:

- Running away while in foster care
- Placement instability
- Being male

- Being a victim of physical abuse
- Engaging in delinquent behaviours
- Having a mental health condition⁶⁸

As for offending, a report from the House of Commons Justice Committee⁶⁹ remarked that "some of the most disturbing evidence we heard concerned the effective abandonment of looked after children and care leavers in custody by children's and social services, with devastating implications for their outcomes on release".

However, two themes relating to successful interventions to prevent reoffending were identified by the Justice Committee: relationships and family involvement.

The level and quality of contact with support workers was more important to young offenders than the kind of intervention offered. However, there exists a tension between the emphasis on positive and engaging relationships, and the risk-focused approach which emphasises accountability, as well as high caseloads (as explained above).

The second factor, family involvement, was also seen as crucial in achieving successful outcomes, although this is not always possible or desirable for care leavers.

In summary, systemic factors can present significant barriers for care leavers, echoing the gaps identified in policy implementation at the start of this section. In the case of youth justice, failure to implement supportive services for care leavers could exacerbate institutionalisation and life-long problems. Turning next to a brief review of the policy context will provide an idea of how governments have tried to mitigate these disadvantages, preventing the occurrence of barriers where possible.

Policy context

Over the last 20 years, government policy and guidelines have attempted to make clearer what responsibilities corporate parents have towards care leavers. The following section provides an overview of key policy drivers that have informed the development of interventions and commissioning strategies for this group.

The government's 2016 Keep on Caring strategy⁴⁷, titled Supporting Young People from Care to Independence, identified five key outcomes to support care leavers:

- Be better prepared and supported to live independently
- Have improved access to education, training and employment
- Experience stability and feel safe and secure
- Have improved access to health support
- Achieving financial stability

Policy changes have seen progress toward these outcomes; transitions for care leavers have been increasingly supported both financially and personally.

For example, the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000⁷⁰ set national standards for the responsibilities of local authorities toward care leavers, including an assessment of needs, provision of a Personal Advisor, and a pathway plan. The responsibilities of a corporate parent were therefore clearer than they had previously been.

The Children and Young Persons Act 2008 extended the age at which care leavers could receive support from Personal Advisors from 18 to 21, or from 21 to 25 if they are enrolled in education.

The Children & Families Act 2014⁷¹ further helped looked after children delay their transition from care through the Staying Put

arrangement, which supports them to remain with foster families if mutually agreed.

The Homelessness Act 2002⁷² recognised the increased risk of homelessness for young people leaving care by requiring they be given priority for services. The associated Homelessness Reduction Act 2018 is hoped to make it easier for care leavers to demonstrate a local connection so that they may receive support from the relevant local authority⁷³.

The Homelessness code of guidance published in 2018⁷⁴ outlines responsibilities of local authorities towards care leavers, including corporate parenting duties, setting up joint working arrangements, and taking into the unique needs and circumstances of the young person when considering housing arrangements.

The findings reported in the present review highlight the multiple factors involved in a young person's transition from care and reinforce the need for such improvements in policy, such as strategies for combating the overrepresentation of care leavers in criminal justice system and specialist support for specific groups of care leavers such as unaccompanied refugees.

However, there are still gaps in provision with variability in quality across the country. Policy informs services what they must do, but not necessarily how to do it. Therefore, the next section will review some approaches to transitional housing programmes currently implemented in the UK and internationally to support care leavers.

Summary

The above evidence recognises the ineffectiveness of tackling complex

problems in isolation, thereby promoting a holistic view of the problems care leavers face. Indeed, factors affecting a care leaver's transition out of care are many, varied, and interrelated.

This research also suggests that it is important to monitor and respond to different support needs including physical and mental health, as well as accommodation and EET needs in care leavers, whilst recognising and maximising the positive aspects of their situation. To achieve this aim, tools such as the Transitional Housing Placement Checklist provided in Appendix A.

TRANSITIONAL HOUSING PROGRAMMES

The cross-governmental care leaver strategy, Keep on Caring⁴⁷, acknowledges inconsistency in support for care leavers across England. Examples of interventions aiming to improve transition outcomes for care leavers may serve to elucidate common challenges and recommendations for effective services.

Overall, there is a lack of research about the impact of housing interventions on preventing homelessness⁷⁵, one area in which care leavers are at greater risk and which would pose a significant barrier to their progress. A review⁷⁶ into the transition of looked after young people to independent living found that those who received transition support services were more likely to gain qualifications from compulsory education, be employed, be living independently, and were less likely to be young parents. However, again, the evidence was limited, and the authors noted the lack of long-term evidence.

To fulfil the Keep on Caring⁴⁷ strategy, there is a need to provide evidence-based interventions. The following section will therefore review interventions that have been developed for care leavers as well as homeless youth and young offenders, which is appropriate due to the strong cross-over between these populations. The interventions being reviewed come from both the UK and international literature in order to learn what constitutes a successful intervention for care leavers.

Services as enablers

There are several observations in the literature about what might constitute a successful service in relation to supporting

care leavers, drawing on quantitative and qualitative investigations.

Drawing from a study into engagement and needs of care leavers with complex needs, Malvaso and Delfabbro⁷⁷ concluded that the difficult behaviour often demonstrated by care leavers with complex needs should not lead to rejection from services, but to an attempt to understand how the factors that led to the behaviour has affected them. They suggest that staff working with this group require high tolerance, resilience and persistence, and an understanding of the impact of trauma on behaviour.

The above study also identified disengagement as a significant and often overlooked factor. Engagement is related to an individual's attitudes towards services, their intra- and inter-personal skills, and the ability of services to engage with them. This suggests services must find ways to:

- Create services and programmes that are accessible and inviting
- Build quality relationships that can facilitate engagement
- Develop care leavers' skills and confidence

There is also a theme of cooperation between services and departments. Mendes, Snow and Baidawi⁷⁸, for example, call for greater inter-agency collaboration when working with care leavers with multiple and complex needs, such as between children's services and criminal justice systems. Furthermore, Simon²⁷ suggested that care leavers who received their desired choice of accommodation often did so thanks to the collaboration between housing departments and social services. Furthermore, as Dworksy and colleagues identified, innovative services are those that combine multiple sources of support⁸⁰.

Trauma is experienced disproportionately by complex need care levers. Hopper, Bassuk and Olivet⁷⁹ recommended traumainformed training staff at all levels of an organisation for those experiencing, or at risk of, homelessness.

Hopper et al. recognised that there are barriers to achieving these types of services, such as lack of resources and commitment, and staff not feeling competent in the delivery of trauma-informed service, highlighting the need for training, ongoing support and realistic appraisal of the required resources.

By examining transitional housing services and interventions in the following sections, we may learn more about how some services have tried to capitalise on these recommendations and overcome these barriers.

Housing interventions from outside the UK

Most research into transitional housing programmes has been done in the US, so findings from such studies should be interpreted with caution given the differences in context and experiences.

Innovative approaches

A review for the US Department of Housing and Urban Development⁸⁰ identified several innovative and replicable programmes for young people aging out of foster care. Innovative programmes were those that combined components, provided housing assistance and supportive services in a novel way, or relied on a unique mix of funding streams.

Examples included:

 Seventh Landing focuses on community building, resident leadership, and self-determination. It

- also hosts a coffee shop for on-the-job training and employment support.
- Transitions Permanent Supportive Housing uses a Housing First approach to deliver services only after housing is secured. Prospective tenants get a choice of houses and services and are viewed primarily as tenants rather than clients.
- Interfaith Housing Development
 Corporation is an intergenerational
 approach which provides housing and
 support to care leavers, as well as
 families with children in the care of
 grandparents or other relatives. The
 two groups of residents are hoped to
 support each other.

The authors of this review noted that none of the 58 programmes they identified had been rigorously evaluated. This presents a challenge for the field, as evaluation data is critical to determine the effectiveness of these programmes. The authors noted that evaluations would likely require creative or quasi-experimental techniques (comparing two groups who differ in the service they receive) in order to meet this need.

The authors noted barriers to conducting such evaluations:

- Small sample sizes
- Following up young people after leaving the programme
- Ethical issues associated creating a comparison control group by withholding a service

My Life Model (MLM)

Powers et al.⁸¹ described the My life model (MLM) of support for young people transitioning from foster care to independent adulthood. MLM is implemented over 9-12 months and involves one-to-one, youth directed coaching and peer mentoring workshops.

This programme is completed by young people before leaving care. Although a pretransition programme, it contains elements that may inform transitional and post-care services.

Key components for success of the MLM programme, as explored through qualitative interviews with both participating youth and coaches, included:

- Setting and accomplishing goals
- Identifying support networks
- Self-direction and developing selfdetermination skills
- Engaging in experiential activities

Aspects of relationship support from staff that were considered essential included:

- Non-judgemental acceptance, trust and respect
- Consistent and reliable support
- Transparent communication
- Compatible personalities and shared experience

A Spot of My Own (ASOMO)

ASOMO is a subsidised housing programme in the US, described in a qualitative study by Schelbe⁸². Care leavers are provided with an apartment, case management, and life skills classes for 30% percent of their income over 2 years. Recipients must be in work and working towards educational goals, and at risk of becoming homeless.

Overall, the young people taking part in this study were successful, although the author acknowledged that entrants to the programme were probably those most likely to succeed. However, the findings that even these young people continued to experience struggles and setbacks in multiple domains, including employment and forming a community, demonstrate the difficulties many care leavers face even

when housing is available and relatively secure.

Schelbe's findings reinforced the complexity of the situation for many care leavers, particularly those with complex needs and concluded that although there is a lack of evidence about transitional support programmes, housing support alone may be insufficient.

St Luke's Anglicare

Tested in rural Australia, St Luke's Anglicare programme⁸³ for young people transitioning from care takes a strengths-based and developmentally informed approach which considers a young person's age, state of maturity, and other factors such as intellectual disability.

They aim to provide secure and safe housing, which is a basic factor in transitional success, and help young people access a range of housing options. The programme emphasises strengthening links with family and community and addressing the cultural needs of indigenous young people.

Due to high unemployment rates in this group, and the fact that care leavers struggle to develop social relationships with adults outside the welfare system, two programmes were added to the service:

- An employment programme including structured and supported employment and work placement programmes, aiming to increase engagement in employment and strengthen connection to the community
- Mentoring to improve access to EET opportunities, support engagement and positive outcomes, address isolation, loneliness and alienation, foster sense of self, and support development of independent living skills

The authors of this case study found the model to be successful in promoting social inclusion of care leavers and highlighted the potential to take advantage of other community resources to help with, for example, parenting skills, education, and pursuit of recreational activities.

Walkabout Programs

The Walkabout housing programme⁸⁴ in the US provides:

- Room and board for up to 1 year
- Counselling services
- Career and education planning
- Information, referral and advocacy

Participants, homeless adolescents between the ages of 16 and 21, sign a contract upon entering the programme, which specifies their responsibilities as clients, as well as guidelines, detailed information about the staff, and other help about money management, food preparation, and housework which are also requirements of the programme.

Residents meet with a social worker once a week for the duration of their stay, starting with the development of life goals.
Residents are also allocated a career counsellor to help with employment, finance, and education plans.

There is a focus on discharge planning from the start. At 9 months of residency, the social worker begins the end of the relationship and individual discharge plans are formulated.

Those who need support after this time can enter the Walkabout II programme, which requires residents to demonstrate the skills they learnt during the first year and act with more independence. Walkabout I focuses on acquiring life skills, Walkabout II focuses on applying those skills.

Based on the programme goal that "in a safe, nurturing environment, homeless youth will acquire the independent living skills needed to live independently", outcome indicators showed that:

- 93% of young people acquired or continued practicing independent living skills
- 91% were in education, employment or training
- 87% were discharged to move into appropriate independent living arrangements

Interventions in the UK

Psychologically-Informed Environments (PIE)

The need for psychologically informed environments (PIE) is predicated on the importance of meeting people's emotional and psychological needs. PIE was developed to address issues around homelessness, and its original form – Psychology Informed Planned Environments (PIPES)– was developed for working with offenders⁸⁵. The learning from both can be applied to care leavers, particularly considering the overlap demonstrated in this review.

PIE services apply psychological knowledge and therapeutic-like methods to working with people even in non-clinical settings⁸⁶. In working with care leavers, this may involve an understanding of the barriers they may have faced, formulating plans to maximise individual resources and resilience, and provide an appropriate network of support.

PIE services comprise five key areas:

 A psychological framework (e.g. psychodynamic, cognitive behavioural)

- Thoughtfully designed physical and social space, adapted for the client group and co-designed when possible
- Staff training and support based on evidence including provision of reflective practice and therapeutic-type tools
- Managing relationships, with a belief that relationships are the main drivers of change. Staff are encouraged to provide opportunities for clients to selfmanage, and the same applies for managers toward their staff
- Evaluation of outcomes on an organisational and individual level⁵³

Several homelessness services throughout the UK have implemented a PIE approach, each with a different psychological framework, way of working, or community context.

In Birmingham, St Basils, a youth homeless charity specialising in youth homelessness, developed and adopted its own PIE model in 2011⁸⁷.

Their model includes a multi-level organisational approach, including PIE for both staff (e.g. training and reflective practice) and young people (e.g. the MST4Life™ programme).

St Basils' PIE. St Basils has a focus on youth homelessness, and a high number of service users are care leavers. They provide stepdown care through supported living and other services to young people who are at risk of becoming or are currently homeless.

PIE, drawing from the psychological evidence-base, is trauma-informed. That is, staff are trained to have a basic understanding of the prevalence and impact of adverse experiences during childhood and adolescence.

St Basils staff are also equipped with several psychological tools, such as formulation and chain analysis. Alongside training on how to develop quality relationships with young people, these tools are designed to help young people navigate the transition to adulthood.

Staff are also supported by a clinical psychologist with whom they engage in reflective practice.

An evaluation of St Basils' PIE based on a survey of St Basils staff produced several findings regarding how PIE has affected their work with young people. Staff reported:

- High work engagement, low burnout, and moderate to high job satisfaction
- The most frequently used PIE tools were empathic listening and motivational interviewing
- Staff reported relationships as being another important aspect of their PIE work⁸⁸

My Strengths Training for Life™. As a component of St Basils PIE, the MST4Life™ programme takes a strengths-based approach to help raise young people's aspirations, especially those with complex and high needs, and who require further support to engage in or maintain education, employment, or training⁸⁹. Groups include a high proportion of care leavers who have become homeless.

The 10-session and 4-day residential programme is based on mental skills training in sport to enhance performance. The same skills and techniques practiced by athletes are adapted to fit with the needs and experiences of homeless young people who engage in the programme.

Sessions are group based, include experiential activities and reflective discussion, and aim to help participants use

mental techniques and develop mental skills. Specific session topics include guiding participants to:

- Identify personal character strengths
- Explore personality traits
- Raise their emotional awareness and ability to self-regulate
- Plan and run a fundraising activity

Building on findings reported after the programme's second year⁹⁰, MST4Life[™] has now been delivered across 20 different project sites to over 400 young people (attending at least one session). Evaluation of the programme has found:

- An increase in the proportion of young people in education, employment or training, from 49% before the programme and 69% after the programme
- Improvements in self-reported engagement, optimism and happiness
- Participants rated the programme as highly enjoyable
- Through the method of personal Strengths Profiling⁹¹, participants rated themselves as perceiving an increase in personal strengths and being more satisfied with their personal strengths by the end of the programme
- Qualitative data from interviews with young people and support staff revealed a range of positive outcomes in, for example, self-regulation, selfconfidence, social engagement, and reduced disruptive behaviour. A process evaluation detailing mechanisms of change for the programme is in preparation.

Summary

There have been several approaches trialled to mitigate the higher risk of poor outcomes experienced by care leavers with complex needs. They feature commonalties that appear to be valued and helped these interventions to be successful, from which important insights and examples of best practice may be gleaned, such as:

- A safe, nurturing and supportive environment
- Employment support and programmes
- Opportunities for choice
- Experiential interventions
- The need for evaluation, despite the associated challenges
- Developing quality relationships with young people

However:

- Research in this area is reliant on qualitative data, drawn from interviews with young people and providers of services
- Examples from the US maybe not be directly applicable to the UK context without appropriate tailoring

Therefore, evaluations of support systems designed for care leavers, utilising both care leaver experience and quantitative outcomes, including follow-up beyond one year, are greatly in need for the UK.

Services aiming to support care leavers, who are at higher risk of homelessness, have tended to adopt PIE ways of working. PIE involves emphasis on developing quality relationships, building a quality physical and social environment, engaging in reflective practice to adapt to changing needs, monitor outcomes, and provide staff with basic psychological training to better understand challenging behaviour. This approach includes interventions at multiple levels, with support for both staff and young people: a two-pronged approach to maximise the likelihood of producing successful outcomes for young people.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR SERVICES AND PRACTICE

Alongside other national and international examples, the PIE approach has been developed and incorporated by the youth homelessness organisation St Basils who were hosts for the pilot evaluation made available with this report which this literature review accompanies⁹².

Through this model St Basils have emphasised co-production, implemented organisation-wide training to help staff understand the difficulties of care leavers facing homelessness as outlined in this report, and aimed to raise aspirations and improve well-being in this population, for example through the MST4Life™ programme.

What is clear from the above interventions, including the St Basils PIE case study, is that services do have the ability to implement these recommendations. A checklist-type tool was developed from the findings of this review and provided in Appendix A. The Transitional Housing Checklist tool is intended to aid implementation of these recommendations on a practical level.

The tool could be used by frontline staff such as social workers or those assessing the suitability of placements for care leavers and would complement existing tools such as the Outcome Star. Its aim is to guide transition planning with young people by outlining important aspects of transitional accommodation (e.g. quality of the physical and social environment) as well as the process of transition (e.g. involvement of the care leaver in planning).

Understanding trauma and challenging behaviour

There is a need for staff to have tolerance and understanding for challenging behaviours. This is often easier said than done but is essential to helping young people out of a cycle of exclusion.

This understanding should then drive autonomy-supportive practices (i.e., staff behaviours that encourage independence and self-motivation in young people), strengths-based, and respectful relationships with appropriate boundaries between staff and service users.

Staff training and support

The understanding of challenging behaviours may start with trauma- and/or psychologically-informed training. These initiatives may help practitioners see care leavers more holistically and to depersonalise challenging behaviour that may be directed towards them.

Ongoing training as continuing professional development may also help staff feel more competent in implementing this approach.

Reflective practice is an additional source of support for front-line staff, not only to 'debrief' after stressful events or ongoing challenges, but to facilitate a systematic understanding and formulate action plans.

Training and support may then help frontline staff build quality relationships, which are the driving force of interventions. As we saw in the social support section, trusting and supportive relationships with adults can have a transformative effect for some individuals.

Co-working and collaboration

Receiving specialist support from multiple stakeholders and services is a likely requirement to adequately support the multiple, co-occurring needs of many care leavers.

Care leavers who require support with mental health problems, for example, would therefore benefit from efficient linkages between housing providers and local mental health services. Although PIE services are not necessarily equipped to deliver specialist clinical services, PIE services aim to promote these collaborations.

Consequently, supporting multiple and complex needs requires significant time and resource investment from multiple stakeholders. On the frontline, this work involves formulating the individual needs of the care leaver to inform appropriate intervention and support, signposting them to the relevant agencies and supporting them to engage with these services.

Planning and empowerment

From the positive youth development literature, we know that "problem-free" does not mean being fully prepared for adulthood⁹³. It is also therefore important to provide young people with opportunities to achieve and develop their interpersonal and intrapersonal strengths. These are key features of some approaches that have been trialled to improve outcomes for young people leaving care.

This recommendation is mirrored in the homelessness code of guidance to local authorities is the regard "to take into account the views, wishes and feelings" of care leavers as part of their corporate parenting role⁷⁴.

Many programmes and services identified as innovative and/or that show promise aim to promote self-determination in clients. One aspect of self-determination, experiences and feelings of competence and mastery, may be strengthened by planning transitions in collaboration with looked after children before they become care leavers.

Empowerment could also be achieved through giving choice in the residency, coproducing interventions, adopting a strengths-based approach, and fostering a relationship-supportive atmosphere.

Evaluation recommendations

It is considered essential for research, policy, and practice to seek youth experiences to strengthen their commitment to engaging in services and to improve services over time⁹⁴.

On the other hand, according to Harder and colleagues⁹⁵, research in this area has focused on young people's views and neglected the experiences and impact of parents. They suggest that, where applicable and appropriate, parents' views, or those of other members of the family of origin could be sought, as they are often still part of the young person's support network. This approach may therefore provide greater understanding the complexity of outcomes and processes in care leaver transitions. Similarly, they found that many studies neglect the process of care before the transition to after-care services.

As Jones⁹⁶ points out, the evidence regarding transitional living initiatives is very limited. Evaluations of transitional services for care leavers are therefore greatly in need. Policy and practice should be informed by full-scale evaluations which will ideally include multiple sites and follow

up individuals more than one year after participation.

Further recommendations for evaluations will be made in the evaluation report accompanying this literature review.

CONCLUSION

The experiences and circumstances of care leavers mean that they at greater risk for a number of adverse outcomes.

Enablers and barriers tend to respectively increase or decrease the likelihood of care leavers making successful transitions into independent adulthood.

Whilst by no means destiny, this review suggests that adverse life experiences, poorly planned transitions, lack of social support, mental health or physical difficulties, and other factors, pose significant barriers for care leavers. This is particularly true when these factors are combined, as in the case of care leavers with multiple and complex needs.

On the other hand, positive and secure social networks, housing, education, and employment, as well as an individual's own sense of resilience act as protective factors, supporting care leavers towards positive outcomes

Revisions in policy have improved the provision of support to care leavers.

However, care leavers continue to experience inconsistencies in what support they are offered and how they experience it.

Transitional housing services for care leavers facing the 'accelerated transition to adulthood' have an important role in supporting local authorities fulfil their responsibilities toward care leavers.

Examples of innovative programmes from the UK and beyond demonstrate the advantages of strengths-based and psychologically informed services and interventions.

Taking the findings of this literature review into account, recommendations for local authorities, commissioners, and

practitioners include incorporating traumainformed approaches, co-working and collaboration between housing, statutory, mental health and other services, and attempts to support care leavers' need to have control over their own lives

- ⁴ Berlin, M., Vinnerljung, B., & Hjern, A. (2011). School performance in primary school and psychosocial problems in young adulthood among care leavers from long term foster care. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *33*(12), 2489-2497.
- ⁵ The Centre for Social Justice. (2015). *Finding their feet: Equipping care leavers to reach their potential.*
- ⁶ Schelbe, L. (2018). Struggles, successes, and setbacks: Youth aging out of child welfare in a subsidized housing program. *Children and Youth Services Review, 89*, 298-308.
- ⁷ Zayed, Y., & Harker, R. (2015). *Children in care in England: statistics.* House of Commons Library.
- ⁸ Department for Education (2017). *Children looked after in England including adoption: 2016 to 2017.*
- ⁹ Department for Education (2015) *Children* looked after in England (including adoption and care leavers) year ending 31 March 2015.
- ¹⁰ Department for Education (2017). *Participation Rates In Higher Education: Academic Years 2006/2007 2015/2016 (Provisional).*
- ¹¹ Naccarato, T., Brophy, M., & Courtney, M. E. (2010). Employment outcomes of foster youth: The results from the Midwest Evaluation of the

¹ Cumming, J. (2017). Evaluation of St Basils Psychologically Informed Environments: Report on 2016 Staff Survey findings. A report published by the University of Birmingham, UK

² Department for Education (2015) *Care leavers' transition to adulthood.* National Audit Office.

³ Stein, M. (2006). Research review: Young people leaving care. *Child & Family Social Work,* 11(3), 273-279.

- Adult Functioning of Foster Youth. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 32(4), 551-559.
- ¹² Stein, M., & Dumaret, A. C. (2011). The mental health of young people aging out of care and entering adulthood: Exploring the evidence from England and France. *Children and Youth Services Review, 33*(12), 2504-2511.
- ¹³ Mooney, A., Statham, J., Monck, E. & Chambers, H. (2009). *Promoting the health of looked after children: A study to inform revision of the 2002 guidance.* Department for Children, Schools and Families.
- ¹⁴ Dixon, J. (2008). Young people leaving care: health, well-being and outcomes. *Child & Family Social Work*, *13*(2), 207-217.
- ¹⁵ O'Connor, R. C., Wetherall, K., Cleare, S., Eschle, S., Drummond, J., Ferguson, E., ... & O'Carroll, R. E. (2018). Suicide attempts and non-suicidal self-harm: national prevalence study of young adults. *BJPsych Open, 4*(3), 142-148.
- ¹⁶ Ward, J., Henderson, Z., & Pearson, G. (2003). *One problem among many: drug use among care leavers in transition to independent living.* Home Office. Research, Development and Statistics Directorate.
- ¹⁷ Home Office. (2018). *Drug Misuse: Findings* from the 2017/18 Crime Survey for England and Wales.
- ¹⁸ Office for National Statistics. (2018). *Adult drinking habits in Great Britain: 2017.*
- ¹⁹ Gossop, M., Marsden, J., Stewart, D., Lehmann, P., Edwards, C., Wilson, A., & Segar, G. (1998). Substance use, health and social problems of service users at 54 drug treatment agencies: intake data from the National Treatment Outcome Research Study. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *173*(2), 166-171.
- ²⁰ Equality Act 2010, c. 15, Available at: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/6 (Accessed 18/10/2018).
- ²¹ Stein, M. (2005). *Resilience and young people leaving care: Overcoming the odds.* Joseph Rowntree Foundation.
- ²² Anctil, T. M., McCubbin, L. D., O'Brien, K., & Pecora, P. (2007). An evaluation of recovery factors for foster care alumni with physical or

- psychiatric impairments: Predictors of psychological outcomes. *Children and Youth Services Review, 29*(8), 1021-1034.
- ²³ Department for Education. (2013). *Outcomes* for children looked after by local authorities in England, as at 31 March 2013.
- ²⁴ Ministry of Justice. *Prisoners' childhood and family backgrounds Results from surveying Prisoner Crime Reduction (SPCR) longitudinal cohort study of prisoners*. London: Ministry of Justice, 2012.
- ²⁵ Nacro. (2012). Reducing offending by looked after children.
- ²⁶ Fitzpatrick, C., & Williams, P. (2017). The neglected needs of care leavers in the criminal justice system: Practitioners' perspectives and the persistence of problem (corporate) parenting. *Criminology & Criminal Justice*, *17*(2), 175-191.
- ²⁷ Simon, A. (2008). Early access and use of housing: care leavers and other young people in difficulty. *Child & Family Social Work, 13*(1), 91-100.
- ²⁸ Crisis. (2011). *The hidden truth about homelessness.*
- ²⁹ Fauth, R., Hart, D., & Payne, L. (2012). *Supporting care leavers' successful transition to independent living*. National Children's Bureau.
- ³⁰ Wade, J., & Dixon, J. (2006). Making a home, finding a job: investigating early housing and employment outcomes for young people leaving care. *Child & Family Social Work*, *11*(3), 199-208
- ³¹ Department for Communities and Local Government (2017). *Draft Homelessness code of guidance for local authorities.*
- ³² Stein, M. (2012). Young people leaving care: Supporting pathways to adulthood. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- ³³ Malvaso, C., & Delfabbro, P. (2016). Young people with complex needs leaving out-of-home care: Service issues and the need to enhance practice and policy. *Children Australia*, *41*(1), 69-79.

- ³⁴ Luthar, S. S., Cicchetti, D., & Becker, B. (2000). The construct of resilience: A critical evaluation and guidelines for future work. *Child Development*, *71*(3), 543-562.
- ³⁵ Jones, L. (2012). Measuring resiliency and its predictors in recently discharged foster youth. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal*, *29*(6), 515-533.
- ³⁶ Collins, M. E., Spencer, R., & Ward, R. (2010). Supporting youth in the transition from foster care: formal and informal connections. *Child Welfare*, *89*(1). 125-43.
- ³⁷ Ford, J., Rugg, J., & Burrows, R. (2002). Conceptualising the contemporary role of housing in the transition to adult life in England. *Urban Studies*, *39*(13), 2455-2467.
- ³⁸ Baker, C. (2017). *Care leavers' views on their transition to adulthood: A rapid review of the evidence*. London: Coram Voice.
- ³⁹ Melkman, E. P., & Benbenishty, R. (2018). Social support networks of care leavers: Mediating between childhood adversity and adult functioning. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 86, 176-187.
- ⁴⁰ Stein, M. (2008). Resilience and young people leaving care. *Child Care in Practice*, *14*(1), 35-44.
- ⁴¹ Perry, B. L. (2006). Understanding social network disruption: The case of youth in foster care. *Social Problems*, *53*(3), 371-391.
- ⁴² Hiles, D., Moss, D., Wright, J., & Dallos, R. (2013). Young people's experience of social support during the process of leaving care: A review of the literature. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *35*(12), 2059-2071.
- ⁴³ Holt-Lunstad, J., Smith, T. B., & Layton, J. B. (2010). Social relationships and mortality risk: a meta-analytic review. *PLoS Medicine*, *7*(7), e1000316.
- ⁴⁴ Samuels, G. M., & Pryce, J. M. (2008). "What doesn't kill you makes you stronger": Survivalist self-reliance as resilience and risk among young adults aging out of foster care. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *30*(10), 1198-1210.
- ⁴⁵ Curry, S. R., & Abrams, L. S. (2015). Housing and social support for youth aging out of foster

- care: State of the research literature and directions for future inquiry. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal*, 32(2), 143-153.
- ⁴⁶ Arnau-Sabatés, L., & Gilligan, R. (2015). What helps young care leavers to enter the world of work? Possible lessons learned from an exploratory study in Ireland and Catalonia. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *53*, 185-191.
- ⁴⁷ Department for Education (2016). *Keep on Caring: Supporting Young People from Care to Independence*. HM Government.
- ⁴⁸ Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V., & Marks, J. S. (1998). Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 14(4), 245-258.
- ⁴⁹ Greeson, J. K., Briggs, E. C., Kisiel, C. L., Layne, C. M., Ake III, G. S., Ko, S. J., ... & Fairbank, J. A. (2011). Complex trauma and mental health in children and adolescents placed in foster care: Findings from the National Child Traumatic Stress Network. *Child Welfare*, *90*(6), 91.
- ⁵⁰ Felitti, V. J., & Anda, R. F. (2009). The relationship of adverse childhood experiences to adult medical disease, psychiatric disorders, and sexual behavior: Implications for healthcare. In R. Lanius & E. Vermetten (Ed.) *The impact of early life trauma on health and disease: The hidden epidemic* (pp. 77-87). Cambridge University Press.
- ⁵¹ Campbell, J. A., Walker, R. J., & Egede, L. E. (2016). Associations between adverse childhood experiences, high-risk behaviors, and morbidity in adulthood. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *50*(3), 344-352.
- ⁵² Fox, B. H., Perez, N., Cass, E., Baglivio, M. T., & Epps, N. (2015). Trauma changes everything: Examining the relationship between adverse childhood experiences and serious, violent and chronic juvenile offenders. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 46, 163-173.

- ⁵³ Keats, H., Maguire, N., Johnson, R., & Cockersall, P. (2012). *Psychologically informed services for homeless people.*
- ⁵⁴ Office for National Statistics. (2019). Milestones: journeying into adulthood. Available at:
- https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandc ommunity/populationandmigration/population estimates/articles/milestonesjourneyingintoad ulthood/2019-02-18#parents (Accessed 22/02/19)
- ⁵⁵ Baker, C. (2017). *Care leavers' views on their transition to adulthood: A rapid review of the evidence*. London: Coram Voice.
- ⁵⁶ Knight, A., Chase, E., & Aggleton, P. (2006). Teenage pregnancy among young people in and leaving care: messages and implications for foster care. *Adoption & Fostering*, *30*(1), 58-69.
- ⁵⁷ Hobcraft, J., & Kiernan, K. (2001). Childhood poverty, early motherhood and adult social exclusion. *The British Journal of Sociology, 52*(3), 495-517.
- ⁵⁸ Connolly, J., Heifetz, M., & Bohr, Y. (2012). Pregnancy and motherhood among adolescent girls in child protective services: A metasynthesis of qualitative research. *Journal of Public Child Welfare, 6*(5), 614-635.
- ⁵⁹ Barn, R., Andrew, L., Mantovani, N. (2005). *Life after care: The experiences of young people from different ethnic groups*. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation.
- ⁶⁰ Carr, N., & Pinkerton, J. (2015). Coming into view?: The experiences of LGBT young people in the care system in Northern Ireland. In Fish J. & Karban K. (Eds.), LGBT health inequalities: International perspectives in social work (pp. 99-112). Bristol, UK; Chicago, IL, USA: Bristol University Press.
- ⁶¹ Sirriyeh, A., & Raghallaigh, M. N. (2018). Foster care, recognition and transitions to adulthood for unaccompanied asylum seeking young people in England and Ireland. *Children and Youth Services Review*
- ⁶² McCann, J. B., James, A., Wilson, S., & Dunn, G. (1996). Prevalence of psychiatric disorders in young people in the care system. *BMJ*, *313*(7071), 1529-1530.

- 63 McMillen, J. C., T Zima, B. T., Scott Jr, L. D., Auslander, W. F., Munson, M. R., Ollie, M. T., & Spitznagel, E. L. (2005). Prevalence of psychiatric disorders among older youths in the foster care system. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 44(1), 88-95.
- ⁶⁴ Robson, D., & Gray, R. (2007). Serious mental illness and physical health problems: a discussion paper. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 44(3), 457-466.
- ⁶⁵ Burns, T., Catty, J., Becker, T., Drake, R. E., Fioritti, A., Knapp, M., ... & White, S. (2007). The effectiveness of supported employment for people with severe mental illness: a randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet, 370*(9593), 1146-1152.
- ⁶⁶ Stoep, A. V., Beresford, S. A., Weiss, N. S., McKnight, B., Cauce, A. M., & Cohen, P. (2000). Community-based study of the transition to adulthood for adolescents with psychiatric disorder. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 152(4), 352-362.
- ⁶⁷ Mepham, S. (2010). Disabled children: The right to feel safe. *Child Care in Practice*, *16*(1), 19-34.
- ⁶⁸ Dworsky, A., Napolitano, L., & Courtney, M. (2013). Homelessness during the transition from foster care to adulthood. *American Journal of Public Health*, *103*(S2), S318-S323.
- ⁶⁹ House of Commons Justice Committee. (2013). *Youth Justice: Seventh Report of Session* 2012-13. *Volume I: Report, together with formal minutes, oral and written evidence*. London: The Stationary Office.
- ⁷⁰ Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000, c. 35, Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/3 5/contents (Accessed 20/09/2018).
- ⁷¹ Children and Families Act 2015, c. 6, Available at: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/introduction/enacted (Accessed 14/12/18)
- ⁷² Homelessness Act 2002, c. 7, Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/7/contents (Accessed 20/09/2018).

- ⁷³ Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (2018). *Homeless Reduction Act policy factsheet: local connection for care leavers.* Available at:
- https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/govern ment/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_dat a/file/573133/161128 - Policy Fact Sheet -Local Connection.pdf (Accessed 14/12/18).
- ⁷⁴ Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (2018). *Homelessness code of guidance for local authorities*. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-22-care-leavers (Accessed 14/12/2018).
- ⁷⁵ Bassuk, E. L., DeCandia, C. J., Tsertsvadze, A., & Richard, M. K. (2014). The effectiveness of housing interventions and housing and service interventions on ending family homelessness: A systematic review. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 84(5), 457.
- ⁷⁶ Everson-Hock, E. S., Jones, R., Guillaume, L., Clapton, J., Duenas, A., Goyder, E., ... & Swann, C. (2011). Supporting the transition of looked-after young people to independent living: a systematic review of interventions and adult outcomes. *Child: Care, Health and Development, 37*(6), 767-779.
- ⁷⁷ Malvaso, C. & Delfrabbro, P. (2016). Leaving care and service engagement: Lessons from the homelessness sector. *Parity: Council to Homeless Persons*, *29*(1). 12-13.
- ⁷⁸ Mendes, P., Baidawi, S., & Snow, P. C. (2014). Young people transitioning from out-of-home care in Victoria: Strengthening support services for dual clients of child protection and youth justice. *Australian Social Work, 67*(1), 6-23.
- ⁷⁹ K. Hopper, E., L Bassuk, E., & Olivet, J. (2010). Shelter from the storm: Trauma-informed care in homelessness services settings. *The Open Health Services and Policy Journal*, *3*(1).
- ⁸⁰ Dworsky, A., Dillman, K. N., Dion, R., Coffee-Borden, B., & Rosenau, M. (2012). Housing for youth aging out of foster care: A review of the literature and program typology. *U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development Office of Policy Development & Research.*
- ⁸¹ Powers, L. E., Fullerton, A., Schmidt, J., Geenen, S., Oberweiser-Kennedy, M., Dohn, J., ... & Blakeslee, J. (2018). Perspectives of youth in foster care on essential ingredients for

- promoting self-determination and successful transition to adult life: My life model. *Children and Youth Services Review, 86,* 277-286.
- ⁸² Schelbe, L. (2018). Struggles, successes, and setbacks: Youth aging out of child welfare in a subsidized housing program. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *89*, 298-308.
- ⁸³ Mendes, P. (2011). Towards a community development support model for young people transitioning from state out-of-home care: A case study of St Luke's Anglicare in Victoria, Australia. *Practice: Social Work in Action, 23*(2), 69-81.
- ⁸⁴ Giffords, E. D., Alonso, C., & Bell, R. (2007). A transitional living program for homeless adolescents: a case study. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, *6*(4), pp. 141-151.
- ⁸⁵ National Offender Management Service. (2013). Enabling features of Psychologically Informed Planned Environments. Ministry of Justice Analytical Series.
- ⁸⁶ Haigh, R., Harrison, T., Johnson, R., Paget, S., & Williams, S. (2012). Psychologically informed environments and the "Enabling Environments" initiative. *Housing, Care and Support, 15*(1), 34-42.
- 87 Cumming, J., Skeate, A., & Anderson, G. (2017). St Basils Psychologically Informed Environments meeting the emotional and psychological needs of young homeless people. London: HousingLIN.
- ⁸⁸ Cumming, J. (2017). *Evaluation of St Basils Psychologically Informed Environments*. St Basils.
- ⁸⁹ Cumming, J., & Anderson, G. (2017). *The Mental Skills Training for Life programme for Homeless Young People.* London: HousingLIN.
- ⁹⁰ Cooley, S. J., Quinton, M., Holland, M. J. G., Parry, B., & Cumming, J. (2016). *Mental skills training for life at St Basils: Year 2 report*. A report published by the University of Birmingham, UK.
- ⁹¹ Cooley, S. J., et al. (under review). Identifying character strengths: The feasibility of Strengths Profiling in homeless youth.
- ⁹² Whiting, R. J., Cooley, S. J., Thomas, S., Quinton, M. L., & Cumming, J. (2019). *Transforming*

pathways out of care for 16/17 year olds: An evaluation report for the LGA Children's Efficiency Project. University of Birmingham.

- ⁹³ Bonell, C., Hinds, K., Dickson, K., Thomas, J., Fletcher, A., Murphy, S., ... & Campbell, R. (2015). What is positive youth development and how might it reduce substance use and violence? A systematic review and synthesis of theoretical literature. *BMC Public Health*, *16*(1), 135.
- ⁹⁴ Altena, A. M., Beijersbergen, M. D., & Wolf, J. R. (2014). Homeless youth's experiences with shelter and community care services: Differences between service types and the relationship to overall service quality. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 46, 195-202.
- ⁹⁵ Harder, A. T., Köngeter, S., Zeller, M., Knorth, E. J., & Knot-Dickscheit, J. (2011). Instruments for research on transition: Applied methods and approaches for exploring the transition of young care leavers to adulthood. *Children and Youth Services Review, 33*(12), 2431-2441.
- ⁹⁶ Jones, L. (2011). The impact of transitional housing on the post-discharge functioning of former foster youth. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth*, 28(1), 17-38.

APPENDIX A: TRANSITIONAL HOUSING PLACEMENT CHECKLIST

This checklist, based on findings and recommendations of this review, aims to help guide appraisal of a transitional housing placement (e.g. training opportunities) as well as the process of transition (e.g. care leaver involvement and choice in planning and decision making). It is hoped the checklist will be of value in discussions with looked after young people as part of their pathway planning pre-transition, especially in combination with other assessment and outcome tools. It also aims to add value beyond, for example, checklists for care leavers themselves which focus on practical aspects of leaving care (e.g. the Luton Transition to Adulthood Pathway Planning Checklist 2016/17).

The checklist is also not exhaustive; there may be other relevant factors to take into consideration when appraising transitional housing placements. One of these factors may be the specific needs of a particular care leaver, which goes beyond the scope of this checklist. Professional judgement should take precedence.

You are also encouraged to seek further guidance and information for each of the items, which can be sought from documents such as:

- 'Creating a Psychologically Informed Environment: Implementation and Assessment'
 - https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/siteattachments/Creating%20a%20Psychologically%20Informed%20Environment %20-%202015.pdf
- 'Looked-after children and young people' NICE guidelines
 - o https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs31
- 2012 Good Practice Guide Psychologically Informed Services for Homeless People'
 - http://mcnevaluation.co.uk/wpfb-file/2012-good-practice-guidepsychologically-informed-services-for-homeless-people-pdf/

Item	Description	Comments
	To what extent has the care leaver been	
	included in planning their transition from care	
Care leaver's	(promoting self-determination)? Were they	
involvement in	provided with choice for where to be placed?	
planning process		
	e.g. the 'conversational' approach; tour of	
	facilities before making choice	
Planning for	What, if any, plan, is in place to support the end	
ending of	of the transitional tenancy?	
transitional		
housing	e.g. discharge planning well in advance of	
placement	planned end of tenancy	
	What is the quality of the physical and social	
	environment?	
Physical and	Physical – e.g. security; cleanliness; décor;	
social	lighting	
environment	Social – e.g. privacy of key-working spaces;	
	accessibly of staff; opportunities for activities	
	and engagement opportunities	

	How does this service check what works? How	
	does it evidence progress for clients to	
	stakeholders including clients themselves? Does	
Evaluation	this evaluation include strengths-based as well	
processes	as risk/need assessment?	
	e.g. regular use of outcome star; monitors well-	
	being of staff	
	What is the content and quality of staff	
	training? Does it confer an understanding of	
	trauma and its impacts? Opportunities for	
Staff training and	Continuing Professional Development	
support	Continuing Froressional Development	
Support	o a regular reflective practice meetings.	
	e.g. regular reflective practice meetings;	
	content of staff training conforms to guidelines;	
	PIE training	
	Opportunities to engage in programmes that	
Life skills	transfer practical skills essential to one's ability	
programmes	to live independently (e.g. cooking, budgeting)	
p. og. a		
	e.g. Life Skills Award (OCN)	
	Opportunities to engage in programmes that	
Psycho-social	aim to enhance well-being, psychological skills,	
skills	resilience and/or other psychosocial outcomes.	
programmes		
	e.g. MST4Life (St Basils)	
Employment	Provision of employment support, for example,	
support and	one-to-one or in workshops to help build	
programmes	employability skills (e.g. CVs, interview skills)	
	Opportunities to engage in job placements	
	offered by the housing organisation for young	
Allied/in-house	person to develop employment skills and	
employment	experience in real-life settings, with support;	
support	5 p = 5 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 1	
334	e.g. Live and Work scheme (St Basils); in-house	
	café (Seventh Landing)	
	Opportunities to engage with a mentor to help	
	young person build support network /	
	relationship skills / employment-related skills	
Mentoring	etc.	
	etc.	
	o a St Luko's Anglisaro montorina programmo	
Links with resertal	e.g. St Luke's Anglicare mentoring programme	
Links with mental	Clear links with services to facilitate a young	
health (or other	person seeking support, for example for mental	
specialist need)	health concerns	
support services		